

# The Realizable Magnitude of Carbon Sequestration in Global Cropland Soils: Socioeconomic Factors

**Natural Climate Solutions** 

## The Realizable Magnitude of Carbon Sequestration in Global Cropland Soils: Socioeconomic factors

#### **Authors**

Alison J. Eagle Nazli Z. Uludere Aragon Doria R. Gordon Environmental Defense Fund

#### About this report

This report assesses the current scientific understanding of the realizable potential for increasing carbon sequestration in global croplands as influenced by a range of socioeconomic factors. It identifies research needed to better estimate the magnitude and timing of the climate mitigation potential of this natural climate solution (NCS) pathway with consideration of such socioeconomic factors.

#### How to cite this report

Eagle, A.J., N.Z. Uludere Aragon and D.R. Gordon. 2022. The Realizable Magnitude of Carbon Sequestration in Global Cropland Soils: Socioeconomic Factors. Environmental Defense Fund, New York, New York. <u>edf.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/documents/realizable-magnitude-carbon-sequestration-cropland-soils-socioeconomic-factors.pdf</u>.

#### Acknowledgements

This report was supported through gifts to Environmental Defense Fund from the Bezos Earth Fund, King Philanthropies, and Arcadia, a charitable fund of Lisbet Rausing and Peter Baldwin. We also thank the following experts who provided input and guidance in a scoping workshop in early 2022: Ronald Amundson, Maria Bowman, Holly Buck, Adam Chambers, Sjoerd Willem Duiker, Madhu Khanna, Timm Kroeger, Siân Mooney, Kim Novick, Don Reicosky, Brent Sohngen, and Landon Yoder.

#### December 2022

# **Table of Contents**

Executive summary	4
Introduction	5
Clarifications	6
Estimates of carbon sequestration potential in cropland soils	6
Available land area	9
Timing: Non-permanence and sink saturation	10
Practices impacting carbon sequestration in cropland soils	10
What is realizable? Considering socioeconomic factors	11
Access to inputs and markets	14
Technological change	14
Land tenure	14
Farm and farmer characteristics	16
Practice characteristics	17
Social norms and farmer experience	18
Government policies and programs	18
Extent and rate of adoption	19
Research priorities to serve a long-term vision	20
References	22
Appendix	27

# **Executive summary**

The realizable magnitude, or potential, of carbon sequestration in global croplands is expected to be lower than the estimates of biophysical and technical potential because of varied socioeconomic factors. Here, we review what such factors might be, and how these might result in differential adoption and abandonment of practices expected to increase the total amount of soil organic carbon in croplands.<sup>1</sup> We then lay out four high-priority research areas to help establish the funding and policy priorities around carbon sequestration in croplands as a viable pathway for climate change mitigation globally.

Four key research questions are:

- What are the relevant socioeconomic factors that influence the realizable potential for carbon sequestration in croplands at global and regional scales?
- How do patterns of land tenure, market and other economic drivers, regulatory frameworks and demographics influence the net adoption rates of agricultural practices that affect carbon sequestration in croplands?
- What is the proportion of global croplands that could reasonably be expected to adopt practices that increase carbon sequestration over the next 10–20 years?
- How is conservation practice adoption affected by differential government approaches such as regulation versus voluntary participation?<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> While the practices proposed for soil carbon sequestration can also reduce existing loss rates of soil organic carbon, the focus for this report is the capture of CO, from the atmosphere and storing it as new soil organic carbon to hold onto it for the long term.

<sup>2</sup> Conservation practices are land management and agricultural activities intended to protect soil, water, air, and related plant and animal resources. As promoted by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, "conservation agriculture" is more narrowly defined as a farming system that minimizes soil disturbance, maintains soil cover (mulch or growing plants) and diversifies plant species.



### Introduction

Natural soil formation captured carbon in soils over thousands of years. Human activity has dramatically altered global carbon (C) stocks and flows, with significant losses due to agriculture (Sanderman et al. 2017). However, farmers and scientists have found that certain management practices can increase carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  uptake and/or reduce  $N_2O$  emissions, resulting in net greenhouse gas mitigation and increased soil organic carbon (SOC) concentrations in cropland soils. Ways to enhance this cropland soil carbon sequestration include using plant varieties that have deeper roots or greater biomass, adding organic material and changing crop rotations, among others. Implementation of these practices are site-specific, and the results are influenced by the soil type, prior and current land management practices, environmental conditions and other factors. Enhancing SOC can also provide co-benefits, including improved soil health and water quality, higher yields and increased crop yield resilience to drought (IPCC, 2019; Oldfield et al. 2019; Kane et al. 2021). However, there is little direct evidence that demonstrates how and how much specific practices and practice combinations increase SOC and deliver on these outcomes.

Estimates of how much carbon could be sequestered in soils is often referred to as the soil's carbon sequestration (storage) "potential." This potential could be described in terms of what is biophysically achievable (unconstrained by technology or costs, but spatially varied by biome, land cover, soil type); technically achievable given current technology; economically achievable, which adds a cost-effectiveness dimension; and finally, the realizable potential, or the socioeconomically feasible potential, which reflects what is achievable once various political and social factors are considered (see Figure 1). While each of these levels likely further reduces the potential and many factors constrain the potential, some forces may also be enabling. Thus, the funnel concept is a highly simplified model of the system.



#### FIGURE 1.

A conceptual overview of the realizable potential of soil carbon sequestration in croplands. Note: This funnel diagram is a modified and expanded version of Figure 2 in Amundson and Biardeau (2018).

Existing scientific estimates associated with each of these potentials vary, reflecting different assumptions and constraints (or lack thereof) included in the analyses. Nonetheless, scientific efforts to assess the biophysical, technical and economic potentials comprise the majority of studies on the topic; research into the realizable potential that also reflects socioeconomic factors — which are often systemic — has been more challenging and is in its infancy. This report summarizes the current state of knowledge on the realizable soil carbon sequestration potential and identifies research priorities for assessing the socioeconomically achievable (or feasible) carbon sequestration potential in cropland soils.

This report is the second of a two-part assessment. The companion report, "<u>The Realizable Magnitude of</u> <u>Carbon Sequestration in Global Cropland Soils: Biophysical Constraints</u>," hereafter the Biophysical report, describes the current understanding of the carbon sequestration potential in croplands, focusing on the maximum biophysical and technical estimates. Here, our objectives are to:

- Assess the state of the science to help establish reasonable expectations for soil carbon sequestration potential in croplands that remain in use as croplands;
- Identify knowledge gaps concerning the role of socioeconomic factors in the adoption of beneficial practices to increase carbon sequestration in croplands; and
- Develop critical research priorities to respond to these knowledge gaps.

In the meantime, warming temperatures and climatic extremes could compromise the ability of soil to absorb carbon (Smith and Dukes, 2013; Frank et al. 2015; IPCC, 2019). Ongoing global land use and land cover change processes — like urbanization, desertification, deforestation and conversion of grasslands — also alter the size and distribution of the pool of available cropland available for carbon sequestration (Foley et al. 2005). Since soils can reach SOC saturation in a matter of decades, these broader trends would compress the timeframe to identify and capitalize on carbon sequestration benefits from existing cropland soils.

## Clarifications

- We limit most estimates of sequestration potential to the surface or topsoil, at a depth of 0–30 cm. Topsoil SOC changes more rapidly upon a change in land use, and thus the largest portion of potential new SOC is expected to accrue within surface soils.
- Where annual accrual rates are converted into cumulative total sequestration, we will assume constant rates up to 20 years, with negligible change after that point. This is a simplification of SOC saturation, where a change in management can generate an increase in SOC that then reaches a new equilibrium.
- For soil carbon sequestration to serve as an effective climate mitigation solution, it is essential to consider net greenhouse gas (GHG) fluxes. The overall GHG impact related to soil carbon sequestration is the CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent (CO<sub>2</sub>e) of changes in soil carbon net of changes in other GHGs, with nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) of significant consideration. Because it removes climate pollutants from the atmosphere, this type of mitigation is different from others that focus on reducing existing emissions.
- Much of the discussion and the implications in this review are global although many examples come from North America and other temperate croplands due to the volume of research available.
- Many studies discussing agricultural soil carbon sequestration also consider land-use change (cropland to pasture or natural vegetation) or prevented land-use change (cropland from other cover, most often perennial). While these certainly have mitigation potential, the focus on cropland remaining cropland acknowledges the dual goal of mitigating climate change while also maintaining or increasing production to feed a growing population.

## Estimates of carbon sequestration potential in cropland soils

Even before considering how other GHGs might affect the net GHG impact of practice changes, estimates of the global biophysical potential for soil carbon sequestration in cropland and other land uses vary dramatically (see Table 1) and are associated with a large degree of uncertainty even within studies (Minasny et al. 2017; Sanderman et al. 2017; Bossio et al. 2020). These estimates most often take current technology into account, and thus would more precisely be called technical potential. In the short term, however, the two categories (biophysical and technical) are very close, so could be considered mostly interchangeable for the remainder of this discussion.

#### TABLE 1.

Scientific estimates of global soil carbon sequestration potential for land that includes cropland. Items are listed starting with those limited to cropland surface soils, then expanding to estimates that include other land use types and other soil depths.

					Estimates		
Reference	Practices, as reported	Timeframe, as reported	Depth	As reported	Annual, Pg CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	Total over 20 yrs, Pg C	Study Scope <sup>a</sup>
Roe et al. (2021)	soil organic C in croplands	2020–2050	0–30 cm	1024 Mt CO <sub>2</sub> /yr	1.0	5.6	CR
Roe et al. (2019) <sup>b</sup>	soil C sequestration in cropland	varied	surface	0.3–6.8 Gt CO <sub>2</sub> / yr	0.3–6.8	1.6–37	CR
Griscom et al. (2017)	conservation agriculture (cropland)	in 2030	0–30 cm	413 Tg CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	0.4	2.3	CR
Zomer et al. (2017)	cropland soil SOC sequestration, pessimistic and optimistic scenarios	current +20 yrs	0–30 cm	0.90–1.85 Pg C/ yr	3.3–6.8	18–37	CR
Paustian et al. (2019)	managed cropland and grasslands	2–3 decades	not spec'd	4−5 Gt CO <sub>2</sub> /yr	4–5	22–27	CR, GR
Sanderman et al. (2017)	max biophysical potential cropping and grazing land	20 years	0–30 cm	8–28 Pg C	1.5–5.1	8–28	CR, GR
Sommer and Bossio (2014)	SOC sequestration on agricultural land	in 2036	0–25 cm	0.74–1.37 Gt C/ yr	2.7–5.0	15–27	CR, GR
Smith et al. (2008)	cropland management no-till, cover crops, agroforestry,	not specified	not spec'd	1.3 Gt C/yr	4.8	26	CR, SA
Lal (2004)	grazing, energy crops, woodland regeneration	not specified	not spec'd	0.4–1.2 Gt C/yr	1.5–4.4	8–24	CR, SA, GR
NASEM (2019)	ag practices to enhance soil C storage	20-40 yrs	0–30 cm	3 Gt CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	3.0	16	CR, SA, GR, AG

<sup>a</sup> Scope of practices and systems included in the reported numbers: AC (avoided conversion), CR (cropland), SA (set-aside from cropland), GR (grassland or pasture), FS (forest soils), B30 (below 30 cm depth), UN (unconventional technologies), AG (above-ground C)

<sup>b</sup> Note that Roe et al. (2019) is a meta-analysis that includes data from other studies also listed in this table.

#### **TABLE 1. CONTINUED**

Scientific estimates of global soil carbon sequestration potential for land that includes cropland. Items are listed starting with those limited to cropland surface soils, then expanding to estimates that include other land use types and other soil depths.

					Estimates		_
Reference	Practices, as reported	Timeframe, as reported	Depth	As reported	Annual, Pg CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	Total over 20 yrs, Pg C	Study Scope <sup>a</sup>
Soussana et al. (2019)	aspirational, all land-use types	30 years	0–30 cm	2.8 Gt C/yr	10.3	56	CR, SA, GR, FS
Griscom et al. (2017)	conservation agriculture, plus biochar, agroforestry, avoided grassland conversion and improved grazing	in 2030	0–30 cm	3.0 Pg (Gt) CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	3.0	16	CR, AC, SA, GR, UN, AG
NASEM (2019)	agricultural practices (practically achievable PLUS frontier tech)	20-40 yrs	0–30 cm	8 Gt CO <sub>2</sub> /yr	8.0	44	CR, SA, GR, AG, UN
Lal (2010)	afforestation, degraded soil restoration, agricultural mgmt	not specified	0–100 cm	3.8 Pg C/yr	13.9	76	CR, SA, GR, FS, B30
Soussana et al. (2019)	aspirational, all land-use types	30 years	0–40 cm	3.4 Gt C/yr	12.5	68	CR, SA, GR, FS, B30
Minasny et al. (2017)	increase SOC stocks, all soils	first 20 yrs	0–100 cm	2–3 Gt C/yr	7.3–11.1	40-60	CR, SA, GR, FS, B30
Fuss et al. (2018)	crop and grassland mgmt change	for 2050	not specified	2.28–5.34 Gt CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	2.3–5.3	12–29	CR, AC, SA, GR

Proposed annual estimates for global cropland SOC sequestration (see Table 1) range from 0.25 to 6.78 petagrams (Pg)  $CO_2$  per year (IPCC, 2019; Roe et al. 2019), with the highest values greater than the total annual GHG emissions of the United States, which were 5.8 Pg  $CO_2$  in 2019 (EPA, 2021).<sup>3</sup> Potential for SOC sequestration in grazing lands is somewhat lower overall, estimated at 0.15–2.56 Pg  $CO_2$  per year (IPCC, 2019). Some research suggests that, over time, cropland soil has the capacity to recover some (or even most) of the average 7.1% of the historical SOC stocks lost as a result of agricultural activity over millennia (Mayer et al. 2018). Cropland topsoil (0–30 cm) lost an estimated 5.6 Pg C over the past 12,000 years (Sanderman et al. 2017). This provides a useful benchmark for physically achievable carbon sequestration in soils.

Other approaches use experimental or modeled values for different practices and then multiply by total cropland area and a chosen timeframe. The published values of maximum GHG mitigation potential from SOC in global cropland soils over 20 years vary by more than an order of magnitude from 2 (Griscom et al. 2017) to 37 (Zomer et al. 2017) Pg C in the top 30 cm of soils. In addition to land area and timing, this range reflects scientific uncertainty and a lack of consensus concerning the effectiveness of different practices to sequester carbon in croplands and demonstrably mitigate climate change (VandenBygaart, 2016; Schlesinger and Amundson, 2019; Bradford et al. 2019). The bottom-up estimates of Zomer et al. (2017) are three to seven times the estimated cropland SOC loss in Sanderman et al. (2017). In contrast, Griscom et al. (2017) include a more limited number of practices and applicable cropland area, ending up with a much lower estimate. Other studies with higher overall values for SOC sequestration bundle forest and grassland soils along with agriculture (Lal, 2010; Minasny et al. 2017; Soussana et al. 2019), while still other estimates aggregate set-aside or restored area with cropland management (Smith et al. 2008; Griscom et al. 2017).

Biophysical potential for annual increases in cropland soil carbon can vary across space and time and is influenced by factors such as current and past land management approaches, local resource availability, soil type and soil microbial communities, and other environmental factors (Lal, 2013). The range of values in these estimates also depends on the methods used to determine the areal values (e.g., tonnes of C per ha per year). For more details, see the <u>Biophysical report</u>. Extrapolation of those values over space and time requires knowing the amount of relevant land area for SOC management and then the anticipated adoption rates after a policy or other incentive.

Most scaled-up estimates of cropland carbon sequestration potential assume that a given practice change (e.g., implementing cover cropping) will not only be fully implemented over the entire available land area, but also that such implementation will take place immediately (i.e., in year zero or year one) and will be sustained. These assumptions associated with available land area and timing of sequestration are simplistic and result in inflated estimates of the mitigation potential of carbon sequestration in croplands, as we discuss below.

#### Available land area

Total GHG mitigation from a practice or a system of practices is often calculated by multiplying the areal impact by the total area available for that practice (Griscom et al. 2017; Roe et al. 2019). Existing estimates tend to use coarsely defined cropland areas available for conservation practices and are also limited in their consideration of the socioeconomic dimensions of land-use decisions. Additionally, some practices can be combined to achieve the best possible outcome; others may be mutually exclusive. It is often challenging for modelers to prioritize different pathways or practices while avoiding double-counting of the underlying land base for individual practices or combinations. For example, reforestation or riparian buffers cannot take place on the same field location as cover crop adoption, but the mitigation potential calculated for each of these separately might have considered some of the same cropland area.

Estimates of cropland carbon sequestration to date incorporate both differences in potential across regions and in baseline management. Climatic constraints on primary productivity (e.g., shorter growing seasons or lack of water limiting suitability of winter cover crops or other cropping intensification) mean that not all cropland is suitable for all management improvements. Differences in baseline management and SOC will mean that some fields or regions will have less potential for carbon sequestration than others (e.g., well-managed grasslands will be able to sequester less than degraded grasslands; regions with high rates of no-till adoption will have less potential than those that have not yet adopted that practice). Some estimation efforts have worked to

<sup>3</sup> Note that 1 Petagram (Pg) is equal to 1 Gigatonne (Gt). Both units are common in the scientific literature, but this report will use Pg, the SI units.

incorporate this variation: Roe et al. (2021) constrained the area available for no-till and for cover crops by removing certain regions from consideration, incorporating current adoption rates of these practices, and including only degraded grassland for new storage opportunity. Such differences result in a mosaic of carbon sequestration potential as displayed, for example, in the publicly available Soils Revealed tool.<sup>4</sup>

#### Timing: Non-permanence and sink saturation

In reality, the processes that capture soil carbon may not function fully or consistently until a few years after starting to grow cover crops or changing tillage or other crop management, since soil properties change gradually. In addition, growers may realize better success in a new activity after some practice and experience, as they tailor practices to their farming system and region. As a result, it may take time for carbon sequestration rates to reach the anticipated levels (e.g., McLauchlan et al. 2006). Related to this learning process and to risk management, many farmers will try out a new practice on limited field area while assessing how to fit it into their whole operation. Then it takes a number of years before the practice — if successful — becomes standard for most or all applicable fields. Thus, even though a large proportion of farmers may use a certain conservation practice, it is most likely implemented on a smaller total area than the sum of all those operations and implementation intensity can vary. In addition, farmers may determine that a practice is only suitable for fields of given characteristics, further restricting the total area.

Another source of uncertainty for the biophysical and technical potentials concerns how long the carbon sequestration rates (per year) can be sustained, as the rates of gain tend to level off as soils become saturated (see, for example, West and Six, 2007). Some assessments assume sequestration rates remain constant for the first 20 years after practice change and are minimal after that (Minasny et al. 2017; Sanderman et al. 2017; Zomer et al. 2017); others suggest increases can occur for 30 years or more (Poulton et al. 2018; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2019; Soussana et al. 2019).

### Practices impacting carbon sequestration in cropland soils

Practices such as reduced tillage, cover crops, crop diversity and enhanced crop rotations, agroforestry, integrated disease and pest management, and precision agriculture technologies to tailor input use could increase carbon sequestration in cropland soils (Stockmann et al. 2013; Schulte et al. 2014; Poeplau and Don, 2015; Agus et al. 2015). It is increasingly understood, however, the adoption of, and carbon sequestration benefits from, these practices are highly context-specific. Thus, the suitability of practices needs to be evaluated regionally and with consideration of existing land uses and management practices. Moreover, a suite of practices, rather than a single practice, could be more successful in delivering optimal carbon sequestration outcomes in croplands.

Conservation agriculture involves minimal topsoil disturbance with no tillage or minimum tillage, and together with crop rotations or use of mulch that keep a near-permanent or permanent soil cover (Hobbs et al. 2008). Evidence for long-term carbon sequestration benefits from conservation agriculture is mixed. Some studies like Powlson et al. (2016) report promising outcomes, while others (e.g., Palm et al. 2014) are more circumspect. With respect to individual practices, a pair of recent systematic reviews (Haddaway et al. 2017; Meurer et al. 2018) report positive carbon sequestration benefits mainly in the topsoil from modifying tilling practices, which disappear when deeper soil layers are included. These studies caution against overly optimistic earlier assessments of no-till for climate change mitigation.<sup>5</sup> There is more agreement concerning the adoption of cover crops to help sequester carbon in cropland soils (Mazzoncini et al. 2011; Eagle and Olander, 2012; Poeplau and Don, 2015). However, SOC sequestration with cover crops is not guaranteed, and is mainly observed in where the soil starts off with low C levels and with sufficient cover crop biomass (Blanco-Canqui, 2022). Rotations that integrate crop varieties with deeper roots (e.g., short-rotation woody crops) or agroforestry (e.g., alley cropping) can also provide carbon sequestration benefits (Nair et al. 2009; Schoeneberger, 2009; Schoeneberger et al. 2012; Fargione et al. 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>https://soilsrevealed.org/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Reduced or no-tillage has clear value for soil conservation (erosion control) in many cropping systems, and evidence suggests that it is more likely to reduce SOC losses than to store new carbon (Nicoloso and Rice, 2021). In addition, while no-till tends to cause SOC losses at depth, these can be mitigated with long-term no-till (Cai et al. 2022).

An important consideration is the relationship between practices that influence SOC in croplands and their impact on  $N_2O$  emissions (Paustian et al. 2016). Winter cover crops can reduce  $N_2O$  emissions (Tonitto et al. 2006; Kaye and Quemada, 2017), especially if nitrogen (N) application rates are adjusted downward to account for avoided N losses and legume-fixed N. Other practices, like reduced tillage, can increase  $N_2O$  emissions to the point of counteracting or even negating carbon sequestered (Li et al. 2005). Maximizing net GHG mitigation with these practices may be best combined with precision agriculture technologies to improve N use efficiency (Zhang et al. 2015).

Soils depleted of SOC have lower productivity and low use-efficiency of added inputs. As a result, these soils may sequester less carbon on an annual basis (Lal, 2011), but they may have larger capacity for storage in the long run. Practices targeted towards carbon sequestration in croplands can also improve soil productivity (Oldfield et al. 2019), drought resilience (Oldfield et al. 2019; Kane et al. 2021) and deliver numerous other cobenefits (Griscom et al. 2017).

## What is realizable? Considering socioeconomic factors

The realizable potential for soil carbon sequestration is expected to be smaller than the biophysical potential, based on what is technically, economically and socioeconomically achievable (Figure 1). Smith et al. (2008) concluded that realistic potential is only about half of biophysical-technical potential, although they noted that previous studies had estimated price and non-price barriers limited implementation to only 30% of the biophysical potential for agricultural GHG mitigation. Thus, there is uncertainty as to the relative reduction in potential from these different levels of constraint — or even how some may include enabling conditions. Cumulative uncertainty around the "realizable potential" estimates might be increasing as we move from one layer/slice to the next. However, it is also possible that as uncertainty is resolved in the upper layers (e.g., we have high consensus on the biophysical potential), this knowledge would permeate and reduce downstream uncertainty.

Different physical, economic and social factors constrain the potential for carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change at various scales (see Table 2). Sykes et al. (2020) categorize these as private barriers and incentives (financial as well as non-financial) and as externalized impacts (both environmental and socio-economic). So far, few, if any, of these factors have been used to refine the carbon sequestration potential from cropland soils, as efforts to date have generally focused on qualifying the biophysical potential in terms of purely technical and economic constraints, as discussed above.

#### TABLE 2.

Select socioeconomic factors known or expected to constrain soil C sequestration potential estimates across different scales of influence and intervention, with examples from the literature.

Constraint	Level of influence or scale	Description / Examples
New practices may require capital investments (e.g., equipment) with uncertain outcomes	Farm	Arbuckle and Ferrell (2012) found that 40% of Iowa farmers lacked the equipment necessary for cover cropping. More diverse rotations may also require different equipment (planters, storage) for small grains (Carlisle, 2016).
Lack of experience with new or different practices imposes hurdles	Farm to regional	Arbuckle and Roesch-McNally (2015) found increased cover crop adoption rates when neighbors or other facilitators demonstrated practices.
Market demand for main commodities drives management choices	Farm to global	Demand for small grains and forage crops associated with diverse cropping systems and cover cropping lag demand for global commodities like corn and soy.
Farm finance oriented toward near-term profit; lenders may not encourage soil health practices	Regional to national	Lacking information about long-term benefits of conservation practices and discouraged by perceived short-term risks to farm revenues from transitioning to such practices, private lenders may be reluctant to provide financing or accommodations in loan terms for conservation practices (Monast, 2020).
Outreach and adoption take time	Regional to global	Sommer and Bossio (2014) assumed adoption on 5% of arable land in year 1, increasing to 60% after 20 years.
Government programs encourage business-as- usual	National	In the United States, crop insurance programs are oriented to main commodity crops, with 80% of claims paid to corn, soybeans, wheat and cotton from 2000-2016 (Rosa, 2018). Yield records and planting timeframe requirements for taking part in such programs may hamper farmer adaptation efforts.
Scale of the change necessary to impact SOC	Global	Would need to change practices over 570 M farms (Lowder et al. 2016) and almost 5 billion ha (cropland plus rangeland) to realize the estimated benefits.

Efforts to qualify the biophysical mitigation potential with economic constraints have used practice-specific cost curves and expert opinion to estimate the proportion of the total that could be feasible under carbonmarket (or other pricing and incentive) mechanisms. For example, using a series of marginal cost curves to characterize the anticipated costs of different practice changes, Smith et al. (2008) estimated economic potential of all agricultural GHG mitigation practices to be between 28% and 73% of the technical potential depending on the expected payment price per unit of  $CO_2e$  (see Table 3). This range is somewhat higher than that estimated by Griscom et al. (2017) for all agricultural and grassland activities at similar price ranges. However, the subset of cropland practices is among the least costly (compared to restoring cultivated organic soils, agroforestry, and livestock or manure management), leading to a lower expected economic hurdle (Griscom et al. 2017; Roe et al. 2021).

#### TABLE 3.

Examples of maximum biophysical GHG mitigation potential estimates for global agriculture, refined to account for different economic constraints (carbon market prices).

Reference	Activity(ies)	Biophysical, Tg CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	Constraint	Constrained, Tg CO <sub>2</sub> e/yr	% of original
Roe et al. (2021)	Cropland soil carbon	1487	<\$100 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	922	90%
Griscom et al.	All agriculture	4817	<\$10 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	1095	23%
(2017)	and grassiands activities	4817	<\$100 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	2456	51%
Griscom et al. (2017)	Conservation agriculture	413	<\$10 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	248	60%
		413	<\$100 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	372	90%
Smith et al. (2008)	All agricultural GHG mitigation activities	5480-5950	<\$20 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	1540–1640	28%
		5480-5950	<\$50 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	2530–2690	46%
		5480-5950	<\$100 t CO <sub>2</sub> e	4030–4340	73%

While these marginal cost curves assess opportunity costs for land use and the relevant activities, they may underestimate the full range of, or the heterogeneity in, economic costs associated with adopting some beneficial practices (e.g., access to finance and training). Some practices may require continued support (financial or otherwise), while others may only require support during the initial stages of the transition or until the farmer has experienced sufficient benefit from the practice. As overall adoption rates for improved practices increase, it also remains unclear how much continued support farmers will need to maintain the practices.

Moreover, economic constraints might need to reflect possible barriers to obtaining insurance and financing, as well as market access and input availability, as applicable to the new practices. In addition, non-economic social and political constraints can slow or prevent adoption.<sup>6</sup> These systemic barriers are likely better addressed

<sup>6</sup> Note that certain systemic social and political factors may also serve to encourage adoption, but here we focus on barriers since they are more common (and more likely in need of intervention).

by directing resources or efforts to a community or social network or to regulatory structures, rather than to individuals. Further, while studies may attempt to quantify the costs associated with changing management practices, they often fail to account for the time it may take to fully transition to an improved practice, especially at a large scale.

Researchers use economic research surveys, revealed preference studies and other methods to estimate farmers' willingness to accept a given practice change (i.e., how much farmers say they would need to be paid) and — preferably — to retrieve true adoption rates. Such measures attempt to bring all social, fiscal, labor and other barriers into a common economic framework (e.g., Nyongesa et al. 2016) since the actual costs are difficult to quantify. On-the-ground experience and studies using bio-economic models find lower farmer adoption rates than would be expected at an economic optimum signifying that information barriers, risk preferences and market imperfections can have serious limiting influence (Berazneva et al. 2019).

The full breadth of forces that affect current practices and the potential for change will vary by cropping system and region and can be complex. Regardless, some data do exist that can be used to assess trends and patterns, evaluating the impact of individual- and societal-level factors on adoption (see Table A-1). These factors include farmer demographics (e.g., education, gender, age), farmer objectives (e.g., cash crop versus subsistence), traditions and values, risk perception, land tenure and other farm characteristics, as well as centralized investment in research, technology and infrastructure (Kuehne et al. 2017; Godde et al. 2018).

Even though change on the ground must take place in individual fields and on individual farms, which are managed by many individual producers, the choices available to individuals can be constrained and influenced by an overarching system. Such constraints might manifest themselves as farmers having access to a limited set of inputs (e.g., only GMO seeds), only a single bank or insurance company to work with, or only one place to sell (or store) their crop.

Studies often fail to acknowledge or incorporate such a systems viewpoint, which would better capture the broader social-ecological context of conservation behavior (Yoder et al. 2019). Indeed, the existing literature, which has generally focused on explaining conservation practice adoption through individual factors, finds that none of these individual-level factors are powerful or consistent predictors (Prokopy et al. 2019).

#### Access to inputs and markets

Even with sufficient capital and insurance, the success of new practices depends on reliable and available equipment, seeds and technical support, as well as markets for any new products. Consolidation along the agricultural value chain from the farm to the consumer reduces opportunities for diversification and flexibility for all market participants. For example, regional specialization across the globe for grains — and indeed also for fruit and vegetable production — affect market access and farmers' relationships with land and local communities (Hendrickson et al. 2020). Labor availability, with shortages highlighted during the COVID-19 pandemic, also affects rates of practice change, especially if improved practices alter timing of labor inputs (seeding, harvest, etc.) or require additional planning and management.

#### Technological change

Advances in field monitoring technology and equipment may facilitate and encourage changes to management practices, as long as these advances are affordable or provide benefits for the farmer to justify the cost (e.g., Michler et al. 2019). For example, the use of a smartphone can increase the ability of a producer to use on-farm data to customize nutrient management, irrigation and pest control on a sub-field basis, while also being of low cost to the producer (Gallardo et al. 2020). However, because specialized equipment facilitates and might be needed for the adoption of certain conservation practices, it can be prohibitively expensive for many farmers. Consequently, equipment can be a significant barrier to adopting some conservation practices, particularly cover cropping, in the United States (Carlisle, 2016). Achieving more widespread adoption of conservation practices will likely require increased access to financing for specialized equipment necessary for their implementation.

#### Land tenure

Farmland that is owner-occupied and farmed could look quite different from land leased from an absentee landlord for short-term crop production. International investors have been increasingly purchasing agricultural

land in Africa, Asia and Latin America (Tscharntke et al. 2012), largely for the promise of return on investment, but also perhaps with an eye toward sustainability.<sup>7</sup> Between 2001 and 2012, over 200 million ha in 60 countries had been purchased or leased by numerous companies and governments.<sup>8</sup> The impact of this trend on actual conservation activity and cropland SOC will likely vary by jurisdiction and the nature of operator-landlord relationships.

On average, 46% of U.S. cropland is owner-operated, a proportion that has remained relatively constant for the last 50 years despite land ownership turnover (Bigelow et al. 2016).<sup>9</sup> This means that more than half of the cropland is rented, with about 80% of the land rented from non-operator landlords (see Figure 2). Farm operations that focus on cash grains (e.g., corn, soybeans), peanuts and cotton tend to have a greater proportion of rented land area than those with livestock, fruit or diversified non-grain crops (Bigelow et al. 2016). In Illinois, for example, more than 80% of the cash-grain producing cropland area is rented (Schnitkey et al. 2021b). As of 2014, the majority of rented cropland acres (81%) in the U.S. have been leased or rented to the same farmer for at least three years, while a smaller proportion (38%) have stayed with the same farmer for over 10 years.<sup>10</sup> However, even with high renewal rates, this seeming stability may be undermined by the reality that 70% of leases are single-year contracts (Petrzelka et al. 2020; Masuda et al. 2021). In the U.S., non-operator landlords (absentee landowners who do not actively participate in any farming operation) seem to be associated with greater adoption of conservation tillage between 2012 and 2017 but also lower cover crop incidence (Bawa and Callahan, 2021). For tillage, this may be related to the fact that farmers who invest in equipment for conservation tillage or no-till tend to operate larger farms, including rented land that is used to



#### FIGURE 2.

Percent of farmland area rented or leased in the United States, by county, 2017. Figure from Petrzelka et al. (2020), American Farmland Trust report on non-operator landowners. Data source: USDA NASS Agricultural Census, 2017.

<sup>7</sup> worth.com/farmland-investing-impact-beyond-returns/

<sup>8</sup> viacampesina.org/en/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2012/05/mali-report-2012-en1.pdf

<sup>9</sup> Schnitkey et al. (2021b) attributed constancy in proportion of rental farmland to very slow ownership turnover.

<sup>10</sup> Author calculations based on data from Bigelow et al. (2016): 70%/84% operator/non-operator landlord acres with same tenant for 3+ yrs; 28%/41% operator/non-operator landlord acres for 10+ yrs.

expand their operations. Cover crops, having greater initial investment and risk may be less attractive to renters who have less certainty of farming that same land over the long-term.

The high proportion of rental cropland in the U.S., especially that in annual crops, has implications for conservation practices that have up-front costs with longer-term benefits. As for the well-known cases of housing and automobiles, renters have less incentive than owners to invest in the property (Schnitkey et al. 2021a). Farmers in Ontario and Manitoba reported that they were more likely to invest in management with longer-term soil health and carbon sequestration benefits on cropland that they owned rather than rented (Nadella, 2013; Deaton et al. 2018). Owned land was more likely to receive manure applications (53% versus 31%) and to be planted to cover crops (26% versus 15%), although conservation tillage practice did not differ by land tenure. These patterns suggest that for farmers operating on both owned and rented land, the equipment costs are more "fixed" and investments like cover crops are easier to adjust on a field-by-field basis. These more flexible conservation practices could also be more likely under longer-term landowner-renter relationships or when the landlord has a farming background.

Even when interested in and motivated by opportunities to implement practices that improve soil health and SOC, rental land operators can face additional obstacles, regardless of whether government or private incentive programs are available. These include the difficulty if multiple landlords need to separately approve or otherwise participate in the process and uncertainty about production outcomes (i.e., income) when faced with set rental and other operational costs (Masuda et al. 2021). Increasing trends in cash rent over time in Illinois — as opposed to share rent — mean that the operators rather than landlords bear a greater proportion of the costs for cover crops and similar up-front investments (Schnitkey et al. 2021a).

#### Farm and farmer characteristics

Decisions about cropland management with SOC implications are also affected by the type of farm and crops produced and by individual characteristics of the farmers themselves. Farmers raising cash crops (e.g., commodities or market vegetables) will have different pressures and goals than those mainly producing food for their families. Gender, age, values and traditions may affect resources available and farmer objectives (Druschke and Secchi, 2014) with implications for conservation and practice change.

**Type of crop and cropping system.** The needs and objectives of farmers growing cash crops are different than those of subsistence farmers. Near-term needs of small-scale farmers in Africa, India and other regions of the world may hamper efforts for long-term investments. For example, if crop residue provides significant livestock forage, keeping these materials on the land in order to build soil carbon may not be an option (Sykes et al. 2020).

**Farm size.** Globally, a large proportion of the world's more than 608 million individual farms (Lowder et al. 2021) may need to change agricultural practices to achieve sufficient carbon sequestration to influence net GHG mitigation. This means changes to agricultural systems in nearly every country, and to smallholder farms that are key to food security in developing countries (see Figure 3). On the other hand, most farmers have very small land holdings — over 80% of farmers across the globe cultivate crops on less than 2 ha of land (Tscharntke et al. 2012; Lowder et al. 2021), but the top 1% of farms operate 70% of the farmland worldwide (Lowder et al. 2021). The corollary is that it may be possible to achieve significant results while focusing on the largest farms, or on smallholder farms concentrated in one country or region.<sup>11</sup>

**Farmer demographics.** Gender, age and education level affect rates of agricultural conservation and technology adoption across the globe. According to the FAO, fewer women than men have either ownership or secure tenure rights over agricultural land, especially in the developing world.<sup>12</sup> In some cases, this is because of a lack of legal frameworks that guarantee equal rights to women in land ownership or control over land. In addition, women and minority or low-caste farmers face educational obstacles as well as disparities in obtaining credit, accessing markets, and receiving extension advice and other information (Tanellari et al. 2014). On the other hand, researchers in industrialized countries (e.g., Europe, Australia and North America) regularly report that gender and age do not affect adoption of precision farming (Paustian and Theuvsen, 2017) or expressed interest in payments for ecosystem services (Page and Bellotti, 2015).

<sup>11</sup> For example, China alone has an estimated 209 million individual farms (Lowder et al. 2021) operating 11% of total world agricultural area (525 million hectares).

<sup>12</sup> fao.org/sustainable-development-goals/indicators/5a1/en/; fao.org/sustainable-development-goals/indicators/5a2/en



#### FIGURE 3.

Number of farms and total agricultural land area (cropland plus pasture) for the top 10 countries with the largest cropland area. Sources and notes: Number of farms data from Lowder et al. (2021). Here we use data for a subset of countries (N=148) that reported farm size data in censuses conducted on or after year 2000. Total agricultural land area data is from FAOStat. We use agricultural land area rather than cropland area since Lowder et al. (2021) does not provide a breakdown of farms operating on croplands versus others, and in their analysis, they too relate number of farms data to agricultural land area. Given the single market system and common agricultural policy of the EU-27, we sum the cropland area for the 27 EU countries and represent them as a single country/jurisdiction.

#### **Practice characteristics**

The type and costs of management change can also influence initial adoption and the persistence of that change. To date, research on adoption of conservation practices has focused more on the characteristics of the farmers and the farming context and has overlooked the role practice characteristics might play in successful adoption (Pannell and Zilberman, 2020). These practice characteristics can be categorized in terms of the timing and level of economic costs and benefits associated with a practice; its environmental advantage; its potential for risk reduction (including yields); its convenience or similarity to existing practices being used; its ease of adoption; its "trialability" and complexity; and the observability of the practice change by other potential adopters (de Oca Munguia and Llewellyn, 2020).

Practices that require regular investment (like seed purchase for cover crops) or additional time and labor may be more susceptible to reversals than those with a one time or less frequent investment (such as buying a no-till seeder). On the other hand, an easily divisible investment (e.g., seed for each field could be purchased separately) allows for experimentation on a smaller part of the farm (Carlisle, 2016). Thus, while a single large investment (like a seeder) makes it more likely for a whole farm to shift practices at once, the ability to trial at low-risk may lead to more adoption of unfamiliar practices in the long-run. These factors then interact with land tenure as well, so that easily divisible practices requiring regular investment are less common on rented land with short lease periods (Deaton et al. 2018).

Perceived risk of new practices may also influence adoption rates for farmers that anticipate lower crop yields or crop quality issues. Unknown practices, especially ones that could risk short-term profit, may also be less likely to receive approval banks that provide operating capital to farmers.

#### Social norms and farmer experience

The community within which a farmer operates also has a potentially significant impact on rates of new conservation adoption. Certain individuals are keystones in their community and have an outsized influence on others in their community. Social pressure to maintain tidy crop fields or stay within traditional production practices can deter a farmer from experimenting with a new practice. On the other hand, collective approaches — where farmers work with their neighbors to address local pollution or water availability problems — can provide social incentives for change beyond financial payments (Yoder, 2019). Untested and new practices are also more likely to be adopted as they gain visibility (Arbuckle and Roesch-McNally, 2015). This relationship may explain what has been observed with cover crops in the U.S., which, while not new, are used on a relatively small portion of cropland, and promotion efforts from government and others have recently increased. The rate of cover crop adoption in 2017 was positively correlated to the percent of corn and soy cropland in cover crops between 2012 and 2017 (Wallander et al. 2021).

Conservation practices may also work well together. Once farmers have a positive experience with one conservation practice, they may be more inclined to adopt additional conservation practices. Evidence from USDA ARMS data suggests that cover crops are more likely to be adopted in fields also using no-till, at least for certain crops. For example, in the U.S. cover crops were used more than twice as frequently (8% versus 3%) in no-till and strip-till corn fields than in conventionally tilled ones in 2016, and were used more than four times as frequently (27% versus 6%) for the same tillage comparison in cotton farming in 2015 (Claassen et al. 2018).

#### Government policies and programs

It is important to consider whether and how policy design, program eligibility and associated incentives (and their levels) affect adoption of practices and their abandonment.

In the United States, federal and state government programs over the past years have directed significant resources to encourage conservation practices in field crop and other agriculture.

Extension outreach, increasing focus among commodity groups, and growing interest in carbon markets have also increased interest in practice adoption. Two of the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) largest conservation programs are Environmental Quality Incentives Program (EQIP) and the Conservation Technical Assistance Program (CTA). Total payments for cover crops under EQIP increased by about 20 times between 2005 and 2018, with \$155 million allocated in 2018 and annual payments of up to \$90 per acre across a variety of federal and state programs (Wallander et al. 2021). The cost per acre of the support provided under the CTA program range from about \$30/acre in 2010 to over \$50/acre in 2021.<sup>13</sup> There is evidence of increased adoption of cover crops in 2017 (Wallander et al. 2021), and Biardeu et al. (2016) report a similarly low proportion of croplands receiving funds to implement soil health practices under EQIP and CTA.

In a recent study focusing on the EU, Kathage et al. (2022) report policy to be the "by far strongest" determinant of cover crop adoption and the key lever to increase it, well ahead of any agronomic benefits the practice might provide and unrelated to any environmental considerations of farmers.<sup>14</sup>

Practices taken up solely due to incentive payments might be abandoned once those payments cease. For example, funding under government cost-share programs generally decline and eventually stop after a certain number of years. This assumes adoption costs decline with experience, at which point farmers can finance these practices without support, though this may not always be the case (Sawadgo and Plastina, 2022).

There is also evidence, however, that suggests farmers adopt practices in the absence of incentives or maintain them after discontinuation of incentives. For example, only about one-third of all U.S. croplands planted with a cover crop in 2018 received financial assistance (Wallander et al. 2021). In the case of reduced tillage and no-till adoption across much of North America and beyond, we see that farmers can start and maintain conservation practices in the absence of payments. In some cases, however, existing government policies and programs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Source: authors' calculation using data from <u>nrcs.usda.gov/resources/data-and-reports/rca-data-viewer</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Policies in the EU that have shaped cover crop adoption include the Nitrates Directive and greening requirements under the Common Agricultural Policy.

might become barriers to conservation practice adoption. The crop insurance program in the United States is one example. This program represents the largest proportion of U.S. government assistance to agriculture comes in the form of business risk management programs, primarily crop insurance (in the form of subsidized premiums). This type of government support to agriculture is also significant in some other countries (e.g., Canada, European Union), where evidence suggests that chemical and fertilizer inputs are higher than they would be in the absence of these programs (Eagle et al. 2016; Möhring et al. 2020). Crop insurance coverage in the U.S. and in Canada is focused on major commodity crops. Payment structures in these programs are based on historic yield and eligibility is contingent on defined seeding dates and other requirements (Rosa, 2018). Farmers may be hesitant to test or adopt new practices because of this inflexibility, although Fleckenstein et al. (2020) tested these ideas with a farmer survey and interviews and concluded that crop insurance requirements are not a barrier to cover crop adoption in the U.S. Midwest. In addition, the availability of external risk management may reduce the incentive to "self-insure" with long-term conservation practices (Hatfield et al. 2018; Luken, 2020; Connor et al.).

#### Extent and rate of adoption

Unless a farm or field is already at a saturation point for soil carbon, creating an environmental benefit will require a certain amount of change, or adoption of a new activity. Researchers and extension advisors have worked for decades with farmers around the world to encourage adoption of improved management practices, with both productivity and environmental goals. The relevant adoption and abandonment rates can serve as proxies for adoption of practices for carbon sequestration in croplands. Intervention design can then incorporate the key factors that affect both adoption and reversal.

Practice change does not happen instantaneously, and in fact it can take many years to reach all (or even most) farmers and the land area that they manage (Kuehne et al. 2017). Social factors such as community values, tradition and education all play a role in adoption rates. For example, Sommer and Bossio (2014) assume that pasture areas will be more difficult to reach for implementing carbon sequestration schemes across the globe, suggesting that about 60% of arable land and 40% of pasture might see practice change after 20 years of outreach effort. Based on this factor alone, the range of carbon sequestration potential would decrease from  $0.3-6.8 \text{ Pg CO}_{2}e/yr$  (Roe et al. 2019; Table 1) to  $0.2-4.1 \text{ Pg CO}_{2}e/yr$ .

Social and economic factors that influence adoption of practices that can sequester carbon in croplands are generally exemplified by studies on cover crop adoption in North America or, more broadly, on conservation agriculture adoption in the global context (Kassam et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2020). While the system of practices most likely to store new carbon will likely be more complex than simply adopting cover crops or no-till (the central practices in most conservation agriculture literature), programs and incentives encouraging these practices provide an opportunity to explore factors associated with successful long-term implementation.

Kassam et al. (2019) estimated global conservation agriculture adoption in 2015/2016 at about 180 million hectares, a 69% increase from 2008/2009 and making up 12.5% of all cropland. Their definition of conservation agriculture includes a combination of no-till or minimum till and at least 30% soil mulch cover after seeding (from cover crops or other biomass mulch cover). For some countries, these practices are already in place on a majority of their cropland area (e.g., on more than 70% of cropland in Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay). If this is true, the additional amount of practice change (and thus additional soil carbon sequestration) may be minimal in such regions. On the other hand, this same analysis suggests that 28% of cropland in North America is under conservation agriculture. While reduced tillage frequency is reported to be in practice on 51% of U.S. cropland (Claassen et al. 2018), only about 5% was planted to cover crops as of 2017 (Wallander et al. 2021), with lower proportions in the Corn Belt (Hagen et al. 2020; Wallander et al. 2021). Thus, while a significant portion of cropland may be managed with conservation tillage, there is still room for additional change within existing practices. The extent to which global estimates of carbon sequestration potential incorporate only the percentage of cropland without the conservation practices in place, or the percentages with partial practice adoption versus no practice adoption is unclear in the numbers in Table 1.

Climate change mitigation benefits from carbon sequestration are contingent on this incremental sequestration becoming "permanent" storage in soils. Practice abandonment (or disadoption) that re-releases the carbon sequestered via conservation practices might reduce or even eliminate any climate benefit. Moreover, SOC is lost quicker than accumulated: one tillage pass for weed control could release multiple years of carbon

sequestered back into the atmosphere (Wade and Claassen, 2017). Reasons for practice abandonment can be multiple and varied. For example, reversal of conservation agriculture in Africa is related to labor demand for weeding, lack of access to external inputs, and competition for crop residues between livestock and mulch (Giller et al. 2009). These factors effectively reduce the anticipated "adoption rate" for such a region (see Figure 3 in Soussana et al. 2019). Gains in organic matter and associated soil health improvements under these practices are unlikely to be permanent or significant if producers use these practices intermittently. In an analysis of the USDA ARMS survey data, Claassen et al. (2018) report that 51% of farmers producing corn, cotton, soybean and wheat returned to full tillage from no-till or strip-till at least once every four years. As discussed above, policy design may also play a role in the abandonment of practices.

Therefore, it is important to track and uncover the factors that influence full versus partial adoption (within a given farm); the extent of adoption (number of farmers adopting in a given area); opportunistic ("as needed") adoption; and alternating versus sustained adoption, for a variety of practices (Pannell and Claassen, 2020).

### Research priorities to serve a long-term vision

Quantification of the realizable carbon sequestration potential within cropland soils is a prerequisite for developing agricultural carbon markets, policy and effective funding of mitigation efforts. This involves both identifying and measuring the socio-economic factors influencing the sequestration potential and the mechanisms that modify these factors.

Climate change mitigation from croplands will only be effective if the management practices implemented have longevity. Education and extension can fill much of the gap, especially where new practices will eventually show significant return on investment and warrant ready and long- term incorporation into the agricultural system. However, some benefits from adopting practices that build soil carbon may not be immediately experienced or realized by the farmers themselves. Internalizing these externalities might require incentive schemes or other policy interventions. Carbon markets, either voluntary or regulatory, may provide a source of the necessary funds.

We identify the following as high priority research areas needed to develop robust, global estimates of the realizable potential of carbon sequestration in cropland soils:

- What are the socioeconomic factors that influence the realizable carbon sequestration potential in croplands at different scales?
- How do patterns of land tenure, market and other economic drivers, regulatory frameworks and demographics influence the net adoption of agricultural practices that affect cropland carbon sequestration?
  - Which of these factors vary by type of practice and cropping system, country and region, and which are more universal?
  - How have such factors affected the adoption of new agricultural practices more generally, including those that might not have an impact on carbon sequestration in croplands, but could have other environmental, social or productivity benefits?
  - How is the adoption of conservation practices affected by commodity markets?
- What is the proportion of global croplands that could reasonably be expected to adopt practices that increase carbon sequestration over the next 20 years?
  - What would, if any, be the yield (i.e., output) impact of such expansion?
- How is conservation practice adoption affected by differential government approaches such as regulation versus voluntary participation?
  - For example, do farmers in countries with regulations that dictate agricultural practices adopt new practices more rapidly or consistently and experience lower reversal rates?

Filling these key gaps in research and understanding will help prioritize the role of cropland soil C sequestration in climate change mitigation efforts. To that end, EDF will focus identification of the realizable potential starting with the U.S., China, India and EU. These are among the top five countries with the greatest total cropland area — and thus likely possess the most potential for cropland soil carbon sequestration (see Figure 4).

This research will allow development of broad sequestration adjustment factors and quantify the realizable potential of carbon sequestration in croplands. The frameworks developed would allow for subsequent refinement of these adjustment factors as more or better data become available for different countries or regions.

#### FIGURE 4.

Top 10 countries with the largest cropland areas globally. They are diverse geographically and in terms of cropping systems. Data source: FAOStat. Notes: EU-27 sums the cropland area for the 27 EU countries and represents them as a single country/jurisdiction. A crop is included as a top 5 crop if it is in the top 5 by harvested area in any of the years during 2010-2019. The percentages indicate share of harvested area by crop as a proportion of total cropland area. Due to double or multiple cropping systems, which FAO data does not adjust for, some of the area shares might be overestimates.

The top 10 countires account for 60% of world's croplands. Maize is the crop cultivated consistently across the top 10 countries.

USA	2	Canada	9	EU 27	5	Russia	4	China	3
Maize	21%	Wheat	24%	Wheat	22%	Wheat	20%	Maize	29%
Soybeans	20%	Rapeseed	22%	Barley	10%	Barley	6%	Rice, paddy	22%
Wheat	11%	Barley	6%	Maize	8%	Sunflower seed	6%	Wheat	18%
Seed cotton	2%	Soybeans	6%	Rapeseed	5%	Soybeans	2%	Vegetables, fres	n 8%
Sorghum	1%	Peas, dry	4%	Olives	4%	Oats	2%	Soybeans	6%
		Lentils	5%			Maize	2%	Rapeseed	5%
		Maize	4%			Potatoes	2%		



## References

- Agus, F., H. Husnain and R.D. Yustika. 2015. Improving agricultural resilience to climate change through soil management. Journal of Plant Protection and Pathology 34(4):147–158. <u>doi.org/10.21082/jp3.v34n4.2015.p147-158</u>
- Amundson, R. and L. Biardeau. 2018. Opinion: Soil carbon sequestration is an elusive climate mitigation tool.
   Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 115(46):11652–11656. doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1815901115
- Arbuckle, J.G., Jr. and J. Ferrell. 2012. Attitudes toward cover crops in Iowa: Benefits and barriers. Iowa State University Extension and Outreach, Ames, IA. <u>extension.iastate.edu/</u> <u>alternativeag/info/2012-03-attitudes-toward-cover-crops-</u> <u>iowa-benefits-and-barriers.pdf</u>

Arbuckle, J.G. and G. Roesch-McNally. 2015. Cover crop adoption in Iowa: The role of perceived practice characteristics. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 70(6):418–429. <u>doi.org/10.2489/jswc.70.6.418</u>

- Bawa, S.G. and S. Callahan. 2021. Absent landlords in agriculture – A statistical analysis. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. ERR-281. <u>ers.usda.</u> <u>gov/webdocs/publications/100664/err-281.pdf</u>
- Berazneva, J., J.M. Conrad, D.T. Güereña, J. Lehmann and D. Woolf. 2019. Agricultural productivity and soil carbon dynamics: A bioeconomic model. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 101(4):1021–1046. <u>doi.org/10.1093/</u> <u>ajae/aaz014</u>
- Biardeau, L., R. Crebbin-Coates, R. Keerati, S. Litke and H. Rodríguez. 2016. Soil health and carbon sequestration in US croplands: A policy analysis. U.S. Department of Agriculture and the Berkeley Food Institute. <u>food.berkeley.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/GSPPCarbon\_03052016\_FINAL.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Bigelow, D., A. Borchers and T. Hubbs. 2016. U.S. farmland ownership, tenure, and transfer. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. EIB-161. <u>ers.usda.</u> <u>gov/publications/pub-details?pubid=74675.</u>
- Blanco-Canqui, H. 2022. Cover crops and carbon sequestration: Lessons from U.S. studies. Soil Science Society of America Journal 86(3):501–519. doi.org/10.1002/saj2.20378
- Bossio, D.A., S.C. Cook-Patton, P.W. Ellis, J. Fargione, J. Sanderman, et al. 2020. The role of soil carbon in natural climate solutions. Nature Sustainability 3(5):391–398. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/s41893-020-0491-z</u>
- Bradford, M.A., C.J. Carey, L. Atwood, D. Bossio, E.P. Fenichel, et al. 2019. Soil carbon science for policy and practice. Nature Sustainability 2(12):1070–1072. <u>doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0431-y</u>
- Carlisle, L. 2016. Factors influencing farmer adoption of soil health practices in the United States: A narrative review. Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems 40(6):583–613. doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2016.1156596

- Cai, A., T. Han, T. Ren, J. Sanderman, Y. Rui, et al. 2022. Declines in soil carbon storage under no tillage can be alleviated in the long run. Geoderma 425:116028. doi.org/10.1016/j. geoderma.2022.116028
- Claassen, R., M. Bowman, J. McFadden, D. Smith and S. Wallander. 2018. Tillage intensity and conservation cropping in the United States. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. EIB-197. <u>ers.usda.gov/</u> <u>publications/pub-details/?pubid=90200</u>
- Connor, L., R.M. Rejesus and M. Yasar. 2021. Crop insurance participation and cover crop use: Evidence from Indiana county-level data. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy 44(4):2181–2208. <u>doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13206</u>
- de Oca Munguia, O.M. and R. Llewellyn. 2020. The adopters versus the technology: Which matters more when predicting or explaining adoption? Applied Economic Perspectives & Policy 42(1):80–91. <u>doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13007</u>
- Deaton, B.J., C. Lawley and K. Nadella. 2018. Renters, landlords, and farmland stewardship. Agricultural Economics 49(4):521–531. <u>doi.org/10.1111/agec.12433</u>
- Druschke, C.G. and S. Secchi. 2014. The impact of gender on agricultural conservation knowledge and attitudes in an lowa watershed. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 69(2):95–106. <u>doi.org/10.2489/jswc.69.2.95</u>
- Eagle, A.J. and L.P. Olander. 2012. Greenhouse gas mitigation with agricultural land management activities in the United States — A side-by-side comparison of biophysical potential. Advances in Agronomy 115:79–179. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394276-0.00003-2</u>
- Eagle, A.J., J. Rude and P.C. Boxall. 2016. Agricultural support policy in Canada: What are the environmental consequences? Environmental Reviews 24(1):13–24. doi. org/10.1139/er-2015-0050
- EPA. 2021. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks, 1990-2019. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC. <u>epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-</u> <u>us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks</u>
- Fargione, J.E., S. Bassett, T. Boucher, S.D. Bridgham, R.T. Conant, et al. 2018. Natural climate solutions for the United States. Science Advances 4(11):eaat1869. <u>doi.org/10.1126/</u> <u>sciadv.aat1869</u>
- Fleckenstein, M., A. Lythgoe, J. Lu, N. Thompson, O. Doering, et al. 2020. Crop insurance: A barrier to conservation adoption? Journal of Environmental Management 276:111223. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111223</u>
- Foley, J.A., R. DeFries, G.P. Asner, C. Barford, G. Bonan, et al. 2005. Global consequences of land use. Science 309(5734):570–574. <u>doi.org/10.1126/science.1111772</u>

- Frank, D., M. Reichstein, M. Bahn, K. Thonicke, D. Frank, et al. 2015. Effects of climate extremes on the terrestrial carbon cycle: Concepts, processes and potential future impacts. Global Change Biology 21(8):2861–2880. <u>doi.org/10.1111/ gcb.12916</u>
- Fuss, S., W.F. Lamb, M.W. Callaghan, J. Hilaire, F. Creutzig, et al. 2018. Negative emissions— Part 2: Costs, potentials and side effects. Environmental Research Letters 13(6):063002. <u>doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9f</u>
- Gallardo, M., A. Elia and R.B. Thompson. 2020. Decision support systems and models for aiding irrigation and nutrient management of vegetable crops. Agricultural Water Management 240:106209. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>agwat.2020.106209</u>
- Giller, K.E., E. Witter, M. Corbeels and P. Tittonell. 2009. Conservation agriculture and smallholder farming in Africa: The heretics' view. Field Crops Research 114(1):23–34. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.fcr.2009.06.017</u>
- Godde, C.M., T. Garnett, P.K. Thornton, A.J. Ash and M. Herrero. 2018. Grazing systems expansion and intensification: Drivers, dynamics, and trade-offs. Global Food Security 16:93–105. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2017.11.003</u>
- Griscom, B., J. Adams, P. Ellis, R. Houghton, G. Lomax, et al. 2017. Natural climate solutions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114:11645–50. <u>doi.org/10.1073/</u> <u>pnas.1710465114</u>
- Haddaway, N.R., K. Hedlund, L.E. Jackson, T. Kätterer, E. Lugato, et al. 2017. How does tillage intensity affect soil organic carbon? A systematic review. Environmental Evidence 6(1): 30. <u>doi.org/10.1186/s13750-017-0108-9</u>
- Hagen, S.C., G. Delgado, P. Ingraham, I. Cooke, R. Emery, et al. 2020. Mapping conservation management practices and outcomes in the corn belt using the operational tillage information system (OpTIS) and the Denitrification– Decomposition (DNDC) model. Land 9(11):408. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.3390/land9110408</u>
- Hatfield, J.L., L. Wright-Morton and B. Hall. 2018. Vulnerability of grain crops and croplands in the Midwest to climatic variability and adaptation strategies. Climatic Change 146(1):263–275. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-1997-x</u>
- Hendrickson, M.K., P.H. Howard, E.M. Miller and D.H. Constance. 2020. The food system: Concentration and its impacts. Family Farm Action Alliance. <u>farmactionalliance.org/</u> <u>wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Hendrickson-et-al.-2020.-</u> <u>Concentration-and-Its-Impacts-FINAL.pdf</u>
- Hobbs, P.R., K. Sayre and R. Gupta. 2008. The role of conservation agriculture in sustainable agriculture.
  Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 363(1491):543–555. doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2169
- IPCC. 2019. Climate change and land: An IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems (P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E.C. Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, et al. editors). IPCC. <u>ipcc.ch/srccl/</u>

- Kane, D.A., M.A. Bradford, E. Fuller, E.E. Oldfield and S.A. Wood. 2021. Soil organic matter protects US maize yields and lowers crop insurance payouts under drought. Environmental Research Letters 16(4):044018. <u>doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ abe492</u>
- Kassam, A., T. Friedrich and R. Derpsch. 2019. Global spread of conservation agriculture. International Journal of Environmental Studies 76(1):29–51. <u>doi.org/10.1080/0020723</u> <u>3.2018.1494927</u>
- Kathage, J., B. Smit, B. Janssens, W. Haagsma and J.L. Adrados. 2022. How much is policy driving the adoption of cover crops? Evidence from four EU regions. Land Use Policy 116:106016. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2022.106016</u>
- Kaye, J.P. and M. Quemada. 2017. Using cover crops to mitigate and adapt to climate change. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 37(1):4. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s13593-</u> <u>016-0410-x</u>
- Kuehne, G., R. Llewellyn, D.J. Pannell, R. Wilkinson, P. Dolling, et al. 2017. Predicting farmer uptake of new agricultural practices: A tool for research, extension and policy. Agricultural Systems 156:115–125. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>agsy.2017.06.007</u>
- Lal, R. 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science 304(5677):1623–1627. doi.org/10.1126/science.1097396
- Lal, R. 2010. Managing soils and ecosystems for mitigating anthropogenic carbon emissions and advancing global food security. BioScience 60(9):708–721. <u>doi.org/10.1525/</u> <u>bio.2010.60.9.8</u>
- Lal, R. 2011. Sequestering carbon in soils of agroecosystems. Food Policy 36:S33–S39. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>foodpol.2010.12.001</u>
- Lal, R. 2013. Soil carbon management and climate change. Carbon Management 4(4):439– 462. <u>doi.org/10.4155/</u> <u>cmt.13.31</u>
- Li, C., S. Frolking and K. Butterbach-Bahl. 2005. Carbon sequestration in arable soils is likely to increase nitrous oxide emissions, offsetting reductions in climate radiative forcing. Climatic Change 72(3):321–338. <u>doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s10584-005-6791-5</u>
- Lowder, S.K., M.V. Sánchez and R. Bertini. 2021. Which farms feed the world and has farmland become more concentrated? World Development 142:105455. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105455</u>
- Lowder, S.K., J. Skoet and T. Raney. 2016. The number, size, and distribution of farms, smallholder farms, and family farms worldwide. World Development 87:16–29. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>worlddev.2015.10.041</u>
- Luken, J.O. 2020. Abandoning risky agriculture and leveraging natural capital: A county-level method for identifying conservation opportunity. Natural Areas Journal 40(1):45– 50. <u>doi.org/10.3375/043.040.0106</u>

Masuda, Y.J., S.C. Harden, P. Ranjan, C.B. Wardropper, C. Weigel, et al. 2021. Rented farmland: A missing piece of the nutrient management puzzle in the Upper Mississippi River Basin? Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 76(1):5A-9A. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.2489/jswc.2021.1109A</u>

Mayer, A., Z. Hausfather, A.D. Jones and W.L. Silver. 2018. The potential of agricultural land management to contribute to lower global surface temperatures. Science Advances 4(8):eaaq0932. doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaq0932

Mazzoncini, M., T.B. Sapkota, P. Bàrberi, D. Antichi and R. Risaliti. 2011. Long-term effect of tillage, nitrogen fertilization and cover crops on soil organic carbon and total nitrogen content. Soil and Tillage Research 114(2):165–174. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.still.2011.05.001</u>

McLauchlan, K.K., S.E. Hobbie and W.M. Post. 2006. Conversion from agriculture to grassland builds soil organic matter on decadal timescales. Ecological Applications 16(1):143–153. <u>doi.org/10.1890/04-1650</u>

Meurer, K.H.E., N.R. Haddaway, M.A. Bolinder and T. Kätterer. 2018. Tillage intensity affects total SOC stocks in boreotemperate regions only in the topsoil — A systematic review using an ESM approach. Earth-Science Reviews 177:613– 622. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2017.12.015</u>

Michler, J.D., E. Tjernström, S. Verkaart and K. Mausch. 2019. Money matters: The role of yields and profits in agricultural technology adoption. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 101(3):710–731. <u>doi.org/10.1093/ajae/aay050</u>

Minasny, B., B.P. Malone, A.B. McBratney, D.A. Angers, D. Arrouays, et al. 2017. Soil carbon 4 per mille. Geoderma 292:59–86. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.01.002</u>

Möhring, N., T. Dalhaus, G. Enjolras and R. Finger. 2020. Crop insurance and pesticide use in European agriculture. Agricultural Systems 184:102902. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>agsy.2020.102902</u>

Monast, M. (2020). Financing Resilient Agriculture. Report by the Environmental Defense Fund. Available at business.edf. org/files/Financing\_Resilient\_Agriculture\_Report.pdf. Link last accessed December 22, 2022.

Nadella, K. 2013. An examination of the adoption of conservation practices on owned and rented farmland in Ontario and Manitoba. Food, Agricultural and Resource Economics MSc. <u>hdl.handle.net/10214/7711</u>

Nair, P.K.R., B.M. Kumar and V.D. Nair. 2009. Agroforestry as a strategy for carbon sequestration. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 172(1):10–23. <u>doi.org/10.1002/</u> jpln.200800030

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2019. Negative emissions technologies and reliable sequestration: A research agenda. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC. <u>doi.org/10.17226/25259</u>

Nicoloso, R.S. and C.W. Rice. 2021. Intensification of notill agricultural systems: An opportunity for carbon sequestration. Soil Science Society of America Journal 85:1395–1409. doi.org/10.1002/saj2.20260 Nyongesa, J.M., H.K. Bett, J.K. Lagat and O.I. Ayuya. 2016. Estimating farmers' stated willingness to accept pay for ecosystem services: Case of Lake Naivasha watershed payment for ecosystem services scheme-Kenya. Ecological Processes 5(1):15. <u>doi.org/10.1186/s13717-016-0059-z</u>

Oldfield, E.E., M.A. Bradford and S.A. Wood. 2019. Global metaanalysis of the relationship between soil organic matter and crop yields. SOIL 5(1):15–32. <u>doi.org/10.5194/soil-5-15-2019</u>

Page, G. and B. Bellotti. 2015. Farmers value on-farm ecosystem services as important, but what are the impediments to participation in PES schemes? Science of The Total Environment 515–516:12–19. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>scitotenv.2015.02.029</u>

Palm, C., H. Blanco-Canqui, F. DeClerck, L. Gatere and P. Grace. 2014. Conservation agriculture and ecosystem services: An overview. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 187:87– 105. doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.010

Pannell, D.J. and R. Claassen. 2020. The roles of adoption and behavior change in agricultural policy. Applied Economic Perspectives & Policy 42(1):31–41. <u>doi.org/10.1002/</u> <u>aepp.13009</u>

Pannell, D. and D. Zilberman. 2020. Understanding adoption of innovations and behavior change to improve agricultural policy. Applied Economic Perspectives & Policy 42(1):3–7. <u>doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13013</u>

Paustian, K., E. Larson, J. Kent, E. Marx and A. Swan. 2019. Soil C sequestration as a biological negative emission strategy. Frontiers in Climate 1:8. <u>doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2019.00008</u>

Paustian, K., J. Lehmann, S. Ogle, D. Reay, G.P. Robertson, et al. 2016. Climate-smart soils. Nature 532(7597):49–57. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/nature17174</u>

Paustian, M. and L. Theuvsen. 2017. Adoption of precision agriculture technologies by German crop farmers. Precision Agriculture 18(5):701–716. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s11119-016-9482-</u>5

Petrzelka, P., J. Filipiak, G.E. Roesch-McNally and M.J. Barnett. 2020. Understanding and activating non-operator landowners: Non-operator landowner survey multistate report. American Farmland Trust. <u>farmland.org/NOLS</u>

Poeplau, C. and A. Don. 2015. Carbon sequestration in agricultural soils via cultivation of cover crops – A metaanalysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 200:33–41. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.10.024</u>

Poulton, P., J. Johnston, A. Macdonald, R. White and D. Powlson. 2018. Major limitations to achieving "4 per 1000" increases in soil organic carbon stock in temperate regions: Evidence from long-term experiments at Rothamsted Research, United Kingdom. Global Change Biology 24:2563–2584. doi. org/10.1111/gcb.14066

Powlson, D.S., C.M. Stirling, C. Thierfelder, R.P. White and M.L. Jat. 2016. Does conservation agriculture deliver climate change mitigation through soil carbon sequestration in tropical agro-ecosystems? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 220:164–174. doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.01.005 Prokopy, L.S., K. Floress, J.G. Arbuckle, S.P. Church, F.R. Eanes, et al. 2019. Adoption of agricultural conservation practices in the United States: Evidence from 35 years of quantitative literature. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 74(5):520– 534. doi.org/10.2489/jswc.74.5.520

Roe, S., C. Streck, R. Beach, J. Busch, M. Chapman, et al. 2021. Land-based measures to mitigate climate change: Potential and feasibility by country. Global Change Biology 27(23):6025–6058. <u>doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15873</u>

Roe, S., C. Streck, M. Obersteiner, S. Frank, B. Griscom, et al. 2019. Contribution of the land sector to a 1.5 °C world. Nature Climate Change 9(11):817–828. <u>doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>s41558-019-0591-9</u>

Rosa, I. 2018. Federal crop insurance: Program overview for the 115th congress. Congressional Research Service, Washington, DC. <u>crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/</u> <u>R45193/4</u>

Sanderman, J., T. Hengl and G.J. Fiske. 2017. Soil carbon debt of 12,000 years of human land use. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114(36):9575–9580. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1073/pnas.1706103114</u>

Sawadgo, W. and A. Plastina. 2022. The invisible elephant: Disadoption of conservation practices in the United States. 37(1). <u>doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.319959</u>

Schlesinger, W.H. and R. Amundson. 2019. Managing for soil carbon sequestration: Let's get realistic. Global Change Biology 25(2):386–389. <u>doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14478</u>

Schnitkey, G.D., K. Swanson and N. Paulson. 2021a. Impacts of rental agreements on cover crop and conservation practice adoption. farmdoc daily 11(13July). <u>farmdocdaily.illinois.</u> <u>edu/2021/07/impacts-of-rental-arrangements-on-covercrop-and-conservation-practice-adoption.html</u>

Schnitkey, G.D., K. Swanson, C. Zulauf and N. Paulson. 2021b. Conservation and farmland tenure on Illinois grain farms. farmdoc daily 11(27July). <u>farmdocdaily.illinois.edu/2021/07/</u> <u>conservation-and-farmland-tenure-on-illinois-grain-farms.</u> <u>html</u>

Schoeneberger, M.M. 2009. Agroforestry: working trees for sequestering carbon on agricultural lands. Agroforestry Systems 75(1):27–37. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s10457-008-9123-8</u>

Schoeneberger, M.M., G. Bentrup, H. de Gooijer, R.
 Soolanayakanahally, T. Sauer, et al. 2012. Branching out:
 Agroforestry as a climate change mitigation and adaptation tool for agriculture. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 67(5):128A–136A. doi.org/10.2489/jswc.67.5.128A

Schulte, R.P.O., R.E. Creamer, T. Donnellan, N. Farrelly, R. Fealy, et al. 2014. Functional land management: A framework for managing soil-based ecosystem services for the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Environmental Science & Policy 38:45–58. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2013.10.002</u>

Smith, N.G. and J.S. Dukes. 2013. Plant respiration and photosynthesis in global-scale models: Incorporating acclimation to temperature and CO<sub>2</sub>. Global Change Biology 19(1):45–63. <u>doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02797.x</u> Smith, P., D. Martino, Z. Cai, D. Gwary, H. Janzen, et al. 2008. Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 363(1492):789–813. <u>doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2184</u>

Sommer, R. and D. Bossio. 2014. Dynamics and climate change mitigation potential of soil organic carbon sequestration. Journal of Environmental Management 144:83–87. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.05.017</u>

Soussana, J.-F., S. Lutfalla, F. Ehrhardt, T. Rosenstock, C. Lamanna, et al. 2019. Matching policy and science: Rationale for the '4 per 1000 - soils for food security and climate' initiative. Soil and Tillage Research 188:3–15. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.still.2017.12.002</u>

Stockmann, U., M.A. Adams, J.W. Crawford, D.J. Field, N. Henakaarchchi, et al. 2013. The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 164:80–99. doi. org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001

Sun, W.J., J.G. Canadell, L.J. Yu, L.F. Yu, W. Zhang, et al. 2020. Climate drives global soil carbon sequestration and crop yield changes under conservation agriculture. Global Change Biology 26(6):3325–3335. <u>doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15001</u>

Sykes, A.J., M. Macleod, V. Eory, R.M. Rees, F. Payen, et al. 2020. Characterising the biophysical, economic and social impacts of soil carbon sequestration as a greenhouse gas removal technology. Global Change Biology 26(3):1085–1108. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1111/gcb.14844</u>

Tanellari, E., G. Kostandini, J. Bonabana-Wabbi and A. Murray. 2014. Gender impacts on adoption of new technologies: The case of improved groundnut varieties in Uganda. 09(4):9. <u>doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.197017</u>

Tonitto, C., M.B. David and L.E. Drinkwater. 2006. Replacing bare fallows with cover crops in fertilizer-intensive cropping systems: A meta-analysis of crop yield and N dynamics. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 112(1):58–72. doi. org/10.1016/j.agee.2005.07.003

Tscharntke, T., Y. Clough, T.C. Wanger, L. Jackson, I. Motzke, et al. 2012. Global food security, biodiversity conservation and the future of agricultural intensification. Biological Conservation 151(1):53–59. doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2012.01.068

VandenBygaart, A.J. 2016. The myth that no-till can mitigate global climate change. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 216:98–99. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.09.013</u>

Wade, T. and R. Claassen. 2017. Modeling no-till adoption by corn and soybean producers: Insights into sustained adoption. Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics 49(2):186–210. <u>doi.org/10.1017/aae.2016.48</u>

Wallander, S., D. Smith, M. Bowman and R. Claassen. 2021. Cover crop trends, programs, and practices in the United States. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. <u>ers.usda.gov/webdocs/</u> <u>publications/100551/eib-222.pdf</u>

- West, T.O. and J. Six. 2007. Considering the influence of sequestration duration and carbon saturation on estimates of soil carbon capacity. Climatic Change 80(1):25–41. doi. org/10.1007/s10584-006-9173-8
- Wigboldus, S., L. Klerkx, C. Leeuwis, M. Schut, S. Muilerman, et al. 2016. Systemic perspectives on scaling agricultural innovations. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 36(3):46. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s13593-016-0380-z</u>
- Yoder, L. 2019. Compelling collective action: Does a shared pollution cap incentivize farmer cooperation to restore water quality? International Journal of the Commons 13(1):378– 399. doi.org/10.18352/ijc.879
- Yoder, L., A.S. Ward, K. Dalrymple, S. Spak and R. Lave. 2019. An analysis of conservation practice adoption studies in agricultural human-natural systems. Journal of Environmental Management 236:490–498. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> jenvman.2019.02.009
- Zhang, X., D.L. Mauzerall, E.A. Davidson, D.R. Kanter and R.H. Cai. 2015. The economic and environmental consequences of implementing nitrogen-efficient technologies and management practices in agriculture. Journal of Environmental Quality 44(2):312–324. <u>doi.org/10.2134/</u> jeq2014.03.0129
- Zomer, R.J., D.A. Bossio, R. Sommer and L.V. Verchot. 2017. Global sequestration potential of increased organic carbon in cropland soils. Scientific Reports 7(1):15554. <u>doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/s41598-017-15794-8</u>

## Appendix

## Useful datasets for estimation of realizable cropland soil carbon sequestration.

#### TABLE A-1.

Geopolitical or geospatial datasets that may help with constraining soil C sequestration estimates, globally or for U.S.

Dataset or Tool	Date	Scale(s)	Select Variables Available	Access Details
AFT survey of NOLs	2019 and 2020	USA: state-level (13 states)	For non-operating landlords: demographics, terms of agreements, etc.	State-level summaries and methodology can be found here: <u>farmlandinfo.org/collections/?special_</u> collections=197
FAO Gender and Land Rights database	Varies by country	Global: country- level	Gender and land-related statistics such as share of women engaged in agriculture.	<u>fao.org/gender-landrights-database/background/</u> <u>en/</u>
FAOSTAT	1969 to current	Global: country- level	Land use, land cover, inputs, agricultural employment, conservation tillage adoption; food price indices; SDG indicators	http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data Many different indicators related to land use and agriculture
OpTIS (Operational Tillage Information System)	2005 through 2019	U.S. Corn Belt and surrounding states; aggregated to regional and watershed scale	% winter cover crops, tillage practices	<u>ctic.org/optis</u> , available because of partnership with Regrow and TNC. Latest dataset released June 2021. See Hagen et al. (2020) for links to datasets within OpTIS.
Persistence of practice dataset	2021	USA	Persistence of CRP, CREP & other NRCS conservation practices	Compiled from literature by Adam Chambers (USDA-NRCS); contact him for more details
SoilsRevealed.org	2018	Global: 250 m to 15 arc seconds	Population, land use, erosion risk	SoilsRevealed.org/
USDA Census of Agriculture	Every five yrs, including 2012, 2017	County to national	Crop level land use, production, and yields. Farm expenditures and input use. Farm characteristics and farmer demographics.	<u>nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2017/</u> (most recent) <u>agcensus.library.cornell.edu/</u> (archive for earlier)

#### **TABLE A-1. CONTINUED**

Dataset or Tool	Date	Scale(s)	Select Variables Available	Access Details
USDA ARMS (Agricultural Resource Management Survey)	Periodically for different crops, 1996 to current	USA: county, LRR	% of land rented, land cover (incl. crops grown), cover crop adoption, tillage, crops planted, nutrient management	ers.usda.gov/data-products/arms-farm-financial- and-crop-production-practices/
USDA ERS Commodity Costs and Returns	Annual, 1975 to current	USA: six regions	Average costs and returns, \$ per acre, broken down to different categories (e.g., hired labor, seed, fertilizer, primary product income)	<u>usda.gov/data-products/commodity-costs-and-</u> <u>returns/</u>
USDA Cropscape – Cropland Data Layer	Annual, 1997 to current	Contiguous USA: gridded (60m to 30m)	Crop-specific land cover	data.nal.usda.gov/dataset/cropscape-cropland- data-layer
USDA NASS TOTAL survey	2014	USA	Economics of land ownership, demographics, land uses	Tenure, Ownership, and Transition of Agricultural Land (TOTAL) Survey; see: <u>ers.usda.gov/</u> <u>publications/pub-details/?pubid=74675</u>
World Census of Agriculture	2006 through 2015 (the 2010 WCA)	Global: country- level	Land tenure, number of holdings, area per holding, landowner legal status, landowner demographics, farm labor source, area irrigated	fao.org/world-census-agriculture

#### TABLE A-2.

Tools designed to predict or otherwise help understand agricultural practice adoption.

Tool	Description	Access Details
ADOPT (Adoption and Diffusion Outcome Prediction Tool)	Assuming consistent institutional structures, ADOPT evaluates individual practices and their characteristics making quantitative predictions about adoption outcomes of new farming practices, estimating the level and rate of adoption	Described by Kuehne et al. (2017)
PROMIS (PRactice-Oriented Multi- level perspective on Innovation and Scaling) framework	Systematically defines a theory of scaling for agronomic innovation by looking beyond individual behavior to include systemic forces from social networks to political structures	Described by Wigboldus et al. (2016)